**RECEIVED**

**Oct 16 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM ARTHUR KELLY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001153

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Whether the court erred in resentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed while he was a juvenile, where, as to the first *Aiken v. Byars* factor,<sup>1</sup> the court failed to take into account the hallmark factors of youth, where Dr. Knight, whom the court found credible, opined Appellant was socially and cognitively less mature than his chronological age?

### II.

Whether the court erred in resentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed while he was a juvenile, where, as to the second *Aiken v. Byars* factor, the court found the circumstances of the crime were unrelated to Appellant's horrific family and home environment, since this finding was wholly without support in the record?

### III.

Whether the court erred in resentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed while he was a juvenile, where, as to the third *Aiken v. Byars* factor, the court failed to account for how the circumstances of the offense were affected by Appellant's familial pressures, where Dr. Knight, whom the court found credible, opined Appellant's desperation to get out of the

---

<sup>1</sup> *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 544, 765 S.E.2d 572, 577 (2014), held that when a juvenile is facing the possibility of a life without parole sentence, the sentencer must consider the following factors: (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender's inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender's incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation. *See also Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477-78 (2012) (discussing same factors).

abusive home motivated him to commit the robbery and his repressed anger from years of abuse triggered the rage that came out during the homicide?

IV.

Whether the court erred in resentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed while he was a juvenile, where, as to the fourth *Aiken v. Byars* factor, the court failed to take into account how youth-related incompetencies affected Appellant's capacity to assist his attorneys, where Dr. Knight, whom the court found credible, opined these incompetencies precluded Appellant from giving his attorneys a coherent and consistent account of the offense they could present to the jury?

V.

Whether the court erred in resentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed while he was a juvenile, where, as to the fifth *Aiken v. Byars* factor, the court failed to take into account evidence regarding rehabilitation, including evidence that Appellant had committed no violent acts in his twenty-five years at SCDC?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the November term of 1996, a Lexington County Grand Jury indicted William Kelly, Appellant, for murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 649 – 651. Appellant was seventeen years old when the crimes were committed. R. 6, ll. 3-4. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Gary E. Clary and a jury, from September 14 – 19, 1998. Solicitor Donald Myers, along with Francis Humphries, Jr., and Gerald Chase, prosecuted the case. Elizabeth Fullwood, Hervery Young, and Wesley Kirkland, Jr., represented Appellant. R. 615. Appellant was convicted as indicted, and he was sentenced to death for murder, thirty years for armed robbery, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, to be served consecutively. No sentence was imposed for kidnapping since Appellant was convicted of murder. R. 624, l. 18 – 627, l. 10.

Appellant's death sentence was reversed by the United States Supreme Court based on a jury instruction error. *Kelly v. South Carolina*, 534 U.S. 246, 258 (2002). Thereafter, the United States Supreme Court held the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibited the imposition of the death penalty on juvenile offenders. *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 575 (2005). On July 14, 2006, the Honorable William P. Keesley resentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder. R. 633; R. 629; R. 630, ll. 14-19.

On July 11, 2016, Appellant moved for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). R. 631 – 632. A resentencing hearing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars* was held before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, from May 20 – 22, 2024. Sarah Mauldin represented Appellant. Rick Hubbard and Suzanne Mayes appeared on behalf of the State. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court took the matter under advisement. R. 520, l. 2 – 523, l. 1.

Both parties submitted sentencing memoranda. R. 634 – 642. On or about July 1, 2024, the court issued an order resentencing Appellant to life without parole. R. 643 – 648.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When considering whether a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishments, the appellate court’s standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law. Therefore, this court will not disturb the circuit court’s findings absent a manifest abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s finding is based on an error of law or grounded in factual conclusions without evidentiary support.” *State v. Finley*, 427 S.C. 419, 423, 831 S.E.2d 158, 160 (Ct. App. 2019) (citations omitted).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The court erred in resentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed while he was a juvenile, where, as to the first *Aiken v. Byars* factor,<sup>2</sup> the court failed to take into account the hallmark factors of youth, where Dr. Knight, whom the court found credible, opined Appellant was socially and cognitively less mature than his chronological age.

#### **A. Appellant committed a brutal homicide when he was a juvenile.**

On January 5, 1996, seventeen-year-old Appellant repeatedly stabbed twenty-five-year-old Shirley Shealy (Decedent), killing her. Decedent was married and six months pregnant, and the baby died with her. The killing occurred during Appellant's after-hours robbery of the KFC restaurant in Batesburg-Leesville. Decedent was a manager at the restaurant, and she had keys to the building and to the safe. Appellant was her former employee. Decedent's hands were duct-taped behind her back. The crime scene was very bloody because Decedent was stabbed thirty-one times. There was money scattered all over, but the safe, which was locked, was empty. R. 6, l. 3 – 8, l. 17; R. 176, ll. 13-16; R. 14, l. 23 – 15, l. 21; R. 58, l. 17 – 59, l. 21; R. 106, l. 10 – 107, l. 19; R. 191, l. 15 – 192, l. 15.

---

<sup>2</sup> *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 544, 765 S.E.2d 572, 577 (2014), held that when a juvenile is facing the possibility of a life without parole sentence, the sentencer must consider the following factors: (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender's inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender's incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation. *See also Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477-78 (2012) (discussing same factors).

After the decedent was found, Appellant's mother, at the request of the police, filed a missing person's report, in which she referred to Decedent as Appellant's "girlfriend." R. 598 – 600; R. 57, l. 10 – 58, l. 12. Appellant was apprehended at his sister's home in Massachusetts. R. 63, l. 24 – 67, l. 10. He was interrogated, waived his *Miranda* rights,<sup>3</sup> and provided a statement to the police in which he admitted stabbing Decedent and stealing money from KFC. R. 63, l. 14 – 85, l. 13. Appellant told law enforcement in Massachusetts that Decedent had "fondled" him and "come onto" him sexually while they worked together. He said the night of the crime, he went by KFC and found Decedent still inside. He denied they had a sexual relationship,<sup>4</sup> but said Decedent started "coming onto" him so he duct-taped her hands, became enraged, and called her degrading names before cutting her throat and stabbing her. Then he stole the money to try to get away. R. 77, l. 18 – 84, l. 3. Forensic evidence connected Appellant to the crime. For instance, Appellant had money and clothes with Decedent's blood on it. R. 60, l. 3 – 61, l. 18; R. 156, l. 15 – 157, l. 16. Footwear impressions from the scene were also identified as Appellant's. R. 120, ll. 7-18.

There was evidence presented by the State to support its theory that Appellant hid in the back of Decedent's car and, after she was on her way home, forced her to go back to the store where he robbed the store and killed her. R. 16, l. 21 – 18, l. 4; R. 22, l. 21 – 24, l. 1; R. 49, l. 21 – 51, l. 19. After Appellant was sentenced to death, he confessed again to an SCDC employee during intake. In that statement, Appellant said he hid in the back of Decedent's car, duct-taped

---

<sup>3</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

<sup>4</sup> During the resentencing hearing, the parties contested whether Appellant and Decedent were in a sexual relationship. R. 367, l. 2 – 369, l. 3; R. 376, ll. 6-10; R. 433, l. 16 – 437, l. 9; R. 478, l. 8 – 483, l. 17. The resentencing judge concluded that they were, finding Appellant was "engaged in adult sexual conduct." R. 645.

her hands while he robbed the store, and killed her because he thought she would turn him in. R. 605 – 613.

**B. Credible expert testimony established that that Appellant was less mature than his chronological age.**

At the resentencing hearing, Appellant presented testimony from Dr. Susan Knight. Dr. Knight was qualified as an expert in forensic psychology without objection. R. 382, ll. 20-25. Dr. Knight interviewed Appellant six times over the course of six years, and she undertook an exhaustive review of Appellant’s life as part of an evaluation for purposes of this hearing. She interviewed Appellant’s family members, relatives, former attorneys, and others. She reviewed his discovery and other legal documents. She reviewed the investigative memos Appellant’s defense team created to prepare for his death penalty trial. She reviewed medical records, school records, and other records related to Appellant and his family, and she reviewed Appellant’s SCDC records, among other things. R. 384, ll. 21-24; R. 386, l. 6 – 388, l. 24; R. 528 – 533. In addition to her testimony, Dr. Knight’s evaluation report was admitted as Defendant’s Exhibit #2. R. 528 – 597.

Dr. Knight testified about her findings and how they related to the first *Aiken v. Byars* factor, the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence. Appellant was socially awkward, withdrawn, quiet, a little slower than other children, and well-behaved in school. He was bullied at school. R. 537; R. 394, l. 13 – 397, l. 1. Dr. Knight testified that Appellant’s age placed him in the development stage of mid-adolescence. She stated that the hallmark features of adolescence include “increased impulsivity, increased risk taking, increased recklessness, not a very sophisticated ability to consider risk and consequence of decisions.” R. 389, ll. 14-21. She

stated adolescents have “poor future orientation. They lack a strong ability to project themselves to understand how their actions today are going to affect them. They also have more difficulty . . . considering alternative actions.” R. 390, ll. 1-7. She testified the “cognitive control center” of the brain is underdeveloped. R. 390, l. 23 – 391, l. 11. As to how these hallmark features affected Appellant, she noted his own words that he “could not project himself into the future” at the time of the crime. She discussed the extensive information that she received from other sources on this topic, which bore out Appellant’s self-assessment in that regard. She concluded that Appellant was “slower socially and cognitively than his peers, so functioning lower than his chronological age.” R. 392, l. 14 – 393, l. 16. She discussed that adolescence is a time of “identity exploration.” R. 392, ll. 2-13. Her report noted that Appellant’s “adolescent identity formation was heavily impacted by his father’s abuse, such that he suffered poor self-image, low self-esteem, and struggled to form a ‘sense of self,’ separate from the abuse dynamics.” R. 556. Dr. Knight concluded the “most prominent developmental factor during Mr. Kelly’s childhood was severe physical and emotional abuse from his father.” R. 542. The abuse will be discussed in Issues II and III.

The court’s resentencing order stated the court found Dr. Knight’s testimony was credible: “the Court finds the Defendant’s expert to be credible[.]” R. 645.

**C. The court did not account for the mitigating evidence regarding this factor, but it held Appellant’s age against him.**

The resentencing order stated the court’s findings with respect to each *Aiken v. Byars* factor. As to the first factor, the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence, the order stated the following.

While the Court finds the Defendant's expert to be credible and offered great insight as to the childhood of the Defendant, the Court weighs this evidence against what the State presented. **The Defendant's age was only 5 months shy of the age of 18 at the time of this horrific crime.** Further, the Court notes the Defendant showed many characteristics of a mature adult including but not limited to the fact that the Defendant: 1) had multiple jobs, 2) obtained a driver's license and had his own car, and 3) was engaged in adult sexual conduct. As to impetuosity, there was overwhelming evidence to establish premeditation and planning of the crimes committed (the gloves, the gas canister, the kidnapping, the duct tape, the chair, the fake alibi).

R. 645 (emphasis added). The resentencing order three times cited to Appellant's age as an aggravating circumstance rather than a mitigating circumstance: "At the time the crimes were committed on January 5th, 1996, the Defendant, was 17 years and 7 months of age"; "The Defendant's age was only 5 months shy of the age of 18"; "Mr. Kelly was only 5 months shy of being an adult." R. 643; R. 645; R. 647.

The order concluded that the court was sentencing Appellant to life without parole: "As Mr. Kelly stated to the court at the conclusion of the hearing, 'By all rights you should give me a life sentence, to be honest with you. Because it is a life for a life... not one, but two.'" R. 648.

**D. The court was required to take into account how the hallmark features of youth counsel against life without parole.**

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." U.S. Const. amend. VIII. "[T]he Eighth Amendment guarantees individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanctions." *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 560 (2005). "The provision is applicable to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment." *Id.* "The United States Supreme Court sequentially has interpreted the protections of the Eighth Amendment to hold that juveniles are entitled to different treatment in sentencing when the death penalty or a life-without-parole

sentence is imposed.” *Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. 14, 26, 889 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2023). *See Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. at 575 (Eighth Amendment prohibits capital punishment for murder where offenders were under eighteen at time of crime); *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 74 (2010) (Eighth Amendment prohibits life without parole for offenders who were under eighteen and committed nonhomicide offenses); *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 465 (2012) (mandatory life without parole for those under age eighteen at time of homicide violates the Eighth Amendment).

The constitutional import of youth in sentencing cannot be overstated. It is the “rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. at 57. “[B]ecause juveniles have lessened culpability they are less deserving of the most severe punishments.” *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. at 68. “[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds.” *Id.* “[A]ppropriate occasions for sentencing juveniles to this harshest possible penalty will be uncommon.” *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. at 479. “Although we do not foreclose a sentencer’s ability to make that judgment in homicide cases, we require it to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.*, 567 U.S. at 480.

“[A] judge or jury must have the opportunity to consider mitigating circumstances before imposing the harshest possible penalty for juveniles.” *Id.*, 567 U.S. at 489. “A hearing where ‘youth and its attendant characteristics’ are considered as sentencing factors is necessary to separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not.” *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190, 210 (2016) (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465).

“We have followed United States Supreme Court precedent in interpreting the Eighth Amendment as applied to South Carolina law. *See Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572

(2014) (holding inmates sentenced to life without parole as juveniles before *Miller* were entitled to resentencing because their sentences violated the Eighth Amendment).” *Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. at 27, 889 S.E.2d at 597. *Aiken* requires juveniles receive an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored before they may be sentenced to life without parole. *State v. Smart*, 439 S.C. 641, 648, 889 S.E.2d 573, 577 (2023).

*Miller* establishes a specific framework, articulating that the factors a sentencing court consider at a hearing must include: (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender’s inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender’s incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.

*Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (cleaned up). “[T]he type of mitigating evidence permitted in death penalty sentencing hearings unquestionably has relevance to juvenile life without parole sentencing hearings, in addition to the factors illustrated above. *Id.*, 410 S.C. at 544-45. “[W]e are mindful that juveniles are entitled to careful sentencing under the Eighth Amendment, and we direct circuit court judges to consider the mitigating factors of youth articulated in *Aiken v. Byars*.” *Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. at 25, 889 S.E.2d at 596.

A “textbook example of what a proper *Aiken* hearing affords” is one in which the resentencing court: listened to testimony from an expert psychologist who examined the defendant and reviewed his records; received testimony from a number of witnesses regarding the circumstances of the crime and the defendant’s background; weighed the evidence; considered counsel’s arguments; and analyzed the *Aiken* factors before imposing a sentence. *Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. at 32, 889 S.E.2d at 600 (Hearn, Acting J., concurring). *Cf. State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526,

545, 894 S.E.2d 820, 830 (Ct. App. 2023) (“the resentencing court’s order does not reflect a careful and thorough consideration of the *Aiken* factors”).

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