RECEIVED

Oct 16 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM ARTHUR KELLY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001153

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. S. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The sentencing court thoroughly considered each of the five factors set forth by *Miller* and *Aiken* and found that in consideration of the evidence presented by both parties, a life sentence was appropriate in Appellant's case. There is no basis to demonstrate an abuse of discretion in this matter.**

The court's Order sets forth a detailed articulation of the law, the *Miller* factors that must be considered, and its findings under each factor. The court considered the evidence as it pertained to those factors – as it was required to do – and reached findings that collectively demonstrated the propriety of a life sentence in the case of Appellant's crime. This was a deliberate application of *Aiken* and its progeny and it was an appropriate exercise of the discretion by the court. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error of law or finding of fact that is not supported by the record evidence. Instead, Appellant's arguments attempt to disguise his mere disagreement with the court's conclusions as being tantamount to a failure to appropriately consider the factors and presented evidence. Appellant cannot obtain relief on the basis of a such an argument as there is no indication of an abuse of discretion in this case. As such, and for the reasons set forth below, this Court should affirm the lower court's resentencing.

In 2012, the United States Supreme Court handed down its decision in *Miller*, which articulated that a mandatory life without parole sentence for homicides committed by defendants under the age of eighteen at the time of the crime was a violation of the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 489, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2475, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407, 430 (2012). Our South Carolina Supreme Court responded with its decision in *Aiken v. Byars*, wherein it retroactively applied *Miller* and extended it to include South Carolina discretionary life without parole sentencings, thereby requiring courts to give consideration to the five factors set forth under *Miller* before issuing a LWOP sentence to a juvenile offender. *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). These factors include:

(1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including “immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence”; (2) the “family and home environment” that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the “incompetencies associated with youth—for example, [the offender's] inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or [the offender's] incapacity to assist his own attorneys”; and (5) the “possibility of rehabilitation.

Id., at 577 (2014) (quoting *Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2468).

In the wake of *Aiken*, there have been a number of cases that have further parsed out what this procedure requires, and what it *does not* require. Notably, *Aiken* made clear that it “is the failure of a sentencing court to *consider* the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution.” *Id.* (emphasis added). While there is some precedent for critiquing the errors in reasoning utilized by the sentencing court,⁹ there is no obligatory responsibility for the court to weigh the evidence received in any certain way, nor must it accept as mitigatingly definitive any particular fact of the case. While courts are explicitly instructed to give no deference to the prior court’s sentence or the prior judge’s rationale, there is no specified burden of proof or presumption placed upon either party. *State v. Smart*, 439 S.C. 641, 646, 889 S.E.2d 573, 576 (2023)(noting that while the occasions for LWOP sentences against juveniles will be expectedly uncommon, “[t]he decision belongs to the resentencing court, and this Court will not recognize

⁹ See *State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526, 541, 894 S.E.2d 820, 828 (Ct. App. 2023), *reh'g denied* (Nov. 21, 2023), *cert. denied* (Sept. 24, 2024) (wherein the court gave consideration to the chronological age of the defendant, but failed to address the other portion of the factor which includes the hallmark features of youth, and where the court’s general articulation that other individuals have overcome trauma and abusive homes strayed from the appropriate consideration of how a defendant’s individual trauma impacted his individual crime).

any presumption nor impose any burden of proof or persuasion. We trust our circuit judges are well-equipped to make the right decision in each case.”). There is also no affirmative duty for a sentencing court to find that a juvenile offender is “irreparably corrupt” before concluding that a LWOP sentence is appropriate for the case. *State v. Miller*, 433 S.C. 613, 627, 861 S.E.2d 373, 380 (Ct. App. 2021), *aff’d*, 441 S.C. 106, 893 S.E.2d 306 (2023). It is within this framework that our South Carolina Supreme Court has set forth the parameters for circuit court judges to hear evidence under the five factors, and after consideration of the factors, use its discretion to issue a sentence.

In the case at hand, the demonstration of the court’s use of discretion is plain. The sentencing court conducted a *three-day Aiken v. Byars* hearing to take in evidence the parties believed pertinent to the five factors that address the hallmark features of youth. See *Aiken*, 765 S.E.d at 577 (noting that though such is not *required* in scope and content, the nature of the proceedings envisioned in *Miller* may appear similar to that of the individualized sentencing procedures for a capital trial). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court articulated its desire and *need* to take the matter under advisement so as to give due consideration to the considerable amount of evidence, testimony, and record materials presented by the parties, before reaching a conclusion as to sentencing. The court also noted its intention not to allow too great an amount of time to pass following the hearing, so as to ensure that a decision is made upon a fresh recollection of the proceedings. (R. p. 520-523). True to his word, Judge Gibbons issued his findings and sentence a little over 30 days after the completion of the hearing. The Order set forth the holding in *Miller* and *Aiken*, articulated that the purpose of the hearing was to ensure that the hallmarks of youth are considered in sentencing a juvenile offender, and noted that the Supreme Court has surmised that life sentences in such review will be uncommon. The Order then set forth findings

that were considerate of the evidence presented and appropriately addressed the five factors set forth by *Miller* and *Aiken*.

While the subject is addressed again under certain factors (*infra*), specific attention was paid by the court to Appellant's own statements offered at his hearing. Appellant conceded the vicious and depraved nature of his murder and articulated that it had no foundation in his childhood experiences. Moreover, he articulated that in light of the extreme nature of his murder – which included the murder of Shirley's unborn child – he found both his former death penalty and his current life without parole sentence to be justified. Appellant weighed in on what he believed his sentence should be and he instructed the court to sentence him life. The court's consideration and findings under *Aiken* were thorough and appropriate, as required under the law. But in considering the total calculus of what sentence Appellant's crime deserved, such was certainly impacted by the nature of the crime and Appellant's own capitulations. See *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 545, 765 S.E.2d 572, 578 (2014) (“Without question, the judge may still determine that life without parole is the appropriate sentence in some of these cases in light of other aggravating circumstances.”).

The court's conclusion is reflective of that reality, in addition to the fact that the court found very little *Aiken v. Byars* evidence weighed in Appellant's favor.

- a. The court gave due consideration to both the chronological age of Appellant as well as the evidence that addressed the hallmarks of youth in correlation to his crime. Appellant's arguments misconstrue the nature of the factor and do no more than disagree with the court's discretionary conclusion.**

Under the first prong, “Chronological Age and Hallmark Features of Youth,” the court found that Appellant's expert was credible and offered great insight as to Appellant's childhood. However, the court noted that in weighing the evidence against that presented by the State, it found that not only was Appellant merely five months away from turning eighteen years old (i.e. consideration of chronological age), the Appellant demonstrated many characteristics of maturity

and facts that demonstrated reflective and calculated thinking in relation to the crime. Specifically, the court found that Appellant had demonstrated his maturity in the fact that he had held down multiple jobs so as to provide for himself while still living at home, he obtained his own driver's license and had his own car for travel and commuting, and that he had engaged in adult sexual conduct.¹⁰ The court noted that this was not an exhaustive list, but its list certainly demonstrates that Appellant was able to function with a degree of maturity demanded of adults in the world.

The court went further by adding its view of whether Appellant demonstrated the feature of impetuosity in relation to the crime. While the testimony of Dr. Knight spoke to Appellant's mid-adolescent phase of life, and that Appellant and this phase of life are accompanied by the hallmark features of youth contemplated by *Miller*, it is ultimately Appellant's behaviors in the context of the crime that are persuasive here. The court rightfully concluded that there was overwhelming evidence that Appellant engaged in extensive premeditation and planning of the crime he committed. Such evidence demonstrated that he cultivated a fake alibi, cased the restaurant in advance of his crimes, laid in wait for victim in her car, utilized a deadly weapon to force her compliance, used gloves to prevent his identification by fingerprint, used duct tape to kidnap and restrain the victim, and brought a canister of gasoline with him so as to destroy the crime scene after he was finished. There is nothing "impetuous" about those collective and

¹⁰ Appellant suggests in footnote 4 that this finding is solely indicative of the court's acceptance of at least part of the most recent "affair" version of events espoused by Appellant. (Appellant's Brief, p. 7). Respondent does not contest that such is certainly one possibility, and that sexual conduct between Appellant and victim Shirley, if deemed credible, can be supported by the record. However, Appellant's various explanations also insinuate a seeming familiarity with sexual conduct, a desire to restrict that conduct to individuals whom he finds attractive and alluring (as opposed to the negative descriptions he gave of victim Shirley), as well as the assertion that Shirley exhibited jealousy over his "seeing other girls." (R. p. 441). Additionally, Dr. Knight effectively dodged a direct response to the issue entirely. (R. p. 396). Ultimately, Respondent would argue that the record is subject to more than one strict interpretation of this issue.

coordinated efforts. Instead, his actions demonstrate a striking level of forethought and the ability for future projection, such runs contrary to the generalized testimony offered by Appellant at the hearing. Appellant's crime was not the result of "rash" or "sudden" behavior, such that *Aiken* would support a consideration of leniency to a juvenile offender.

Returning to the issue of chronological age, Appellant misunderstands this portion of the factor. Appellant argues that the court held Appellant's age against him and referenced it multiple times. However, the factor requires *both* the consideration of chronological age and the hallmark features of youth. The fact that Appellant was merely five months away from turning eighteen, as opposed to being much younger in age, is a considerably important *part* of the factor, and it is a fact that should and does weigh heavily against him when taken alongside the other considerations of maturity demonstrated by the court. See *State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526, 541, 894 S.E.2d 820, 828 (Ct. App. 2023), reh'g denied (Nov. 21, 2023), cert. denied (Sept. 24, 2024) (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476–77, 132 S.Ct. 2455) (noting that chronological age is part of the first factor and it is relevant to the inquiry; it simply cannot be considered absent consideration of the hallmark features of youth also set forth in the factor). Moreover, the standard does not insist that any finding of immaturity or youthful features disqualifies the possibility of a life sentence. Appellant's argument seems to suggest that the presentation of evidence by an expert that Appellant was a mid-adolescent who exhibited lesser maturity is tantamount to satisfying a checklist bullet point. Appellant's arguments run dangerously close to circular logic, wherein an expert need only confirm that a juvenile defendant was in fact in a youthful stage of life (a practical prerequisite for this type of proceeding), and that the youthful phase of life exhibits hallmark features of youth. Therefore, the defendant exhibits youthful features that should rescue him from a harsher sentence. *Aiken* may demand careful consideration by lower courts, but it requires no such rigidity or

threshold burdens. (*Supra*). It is appropriately a question of whether such youthful features contributed to the commission of the crime, and here they did not.¹¹

The court thoroughly and reasonably considered the first factor under *Miller* and *Aiken*. There is no basis for demonstrating an abuse of discretion.

- b. The court thoroughly and appropriately considered the “family and home environment” factor and the “familial pressure” factor, and while there is evidence of abuse in Appellant’s life, there is considerable evidence supporting the court’s conclusion that Appellant’s family dynamic did not contribute to or facilitate Appellant’s commission of the crime.**

“The second *Aiken* factor requires ‘the family and home environment that surrounded the offender’ be accounted for in a court’s decision on whether to sentence a juvenile to LWOP.” *Mack*, 894 S.E.2d at 829 (Ct. App. 2023), reh’g denied (Nov. 21, 2023), cert. denied (Sept. 24, 2024) quoting *Aiken*, 765 S.E.2d at 577). The Court of Appeals in *Mack* further articulated that analysis seeks to determine whether familial dependency and negative influences “may have affected the functioning of the juvenile offender.” *Id.*, (quoting *State v. Roby*, 897 N.W.2d 127, 146 (Iowa 2017)). In the case presented, there is clear evidence that Appellant suffered abuse at the hands of his father; the solicitor did not seek to contest that factual predicate. However, the evidentiary dispute that arose was between Dr. Knight’s assertion that Appellant’s anger at his father manifested in his attack upon victim, as opposed to the State’s assertion that the abuse was not correlative to Appellant’s decision to commit murder.

¹¹ Appellant also attempts to argue that the court’s sentencing rationale was that of a “life for a life.” While this first makes no sense facially, as such a rationale would require an execution, it is also taken out of context from the Order. In his closing remarks Appellant’s own statements to the court indicated that he believed death was a deserved sentence for his crime, and that at this juncture a life sentence would be appropriate. It is Appellant that articulated the “life for a life” language; the court simply took Appellant’s statements into consideration when sentencing Appellant to a life sentence. To an extent, Appellant’s comments constitute a rudimentary waiver of sorts, and at minimum they provided the court with highly persuasive grounds for giving a life sentence in this case.

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